# RECEIVED

08-01-2014

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

# STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT I

Case No. 2014AP00971-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

VS.

JOSHUA BERRIOS,

Defendant-Appellant.

Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction, Honorable Charles F. Kahn, Jr., Presiding, and an Order Denying Postconviction Relief, Honorable J. D. Watts, Presiding, Entered in Milwaukee County Circuit Court

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

RANDALL E. PAULSON Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1010266

735 North Water Street, Suite 912 Milwaukee, WI 53202 (414) 227-4805

Email: paulsonr@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

## **

STATEMENT OF THE CASE					
STATEMENT OF FACTS					
ARGI	1	7			
I.	The Interests of Justice Require a New Trial Because the Controversy Was Not Fully Tried				
	A.	Standa	ard of review 1	7	
	В.	sough	extraordinary nature of the remedy t is justified because the evidence, om overwhelming, supports doubt 1	8	
	C.	Incomplete and misleading evidence was emphasized, even as the jury was deprived of exculpatory evidence			
		1.	Trial counsel erred when he not only failed to enforce the pre-trial order barring Mr. Trevino from identifying Mr. Berrios, but furthered the violation of that order	.3	
		2.	At a minimum, trial counsel should have ensured the jury was informed of the court's ruling that the identification Trevino made was unreliable.	.5	

	the jury's question constituted an erroneous exercise of discretion, and trial counsel was wrong to stipulate to it
II.	Alternatively, This Court Should Require an Evidentiary Hearing to Determine Whether Mr. Berrios Received Ineffective Assistance of Counsel
CONC	CLUSION
CERT	TIFICATION AS TO FORM/LENGTH
CERT	TIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE WITH RULE 809.19(12)
CERT	TIFICATION AS TO APPENDIX34
APPE	NDIX100
	CASES CITED
Aetna	v. Cas. & Sur. Co., 35 Wis. 2d 517, 151 N.W.2d 113 (1967)30
Arroy	o v. Jones, 685 F.2d 35 (2 <sup>nd</sup> Cir. 1982)
Blaine	e v. United States, 18 A. 3d 766 (D.C. App. 2011)1
Boller	<i>nbach v. United States</i> , 326 U.S. U.S. 607 (1946)20

Kochanski v. Speedway Superamerica,
2014 WI 72, Wis. 2d, N.W.2d, (No.
2011AP1956, Wis. July 17, 2014)21
Nommenson v. Am. Cont'l Ins. Co.,
2001 WI 112, 246 Wis.2d 132, 629 N.W.2d
30121
Profitt v. Waldron,
831 F.2d 1245 (5th Cir. 1987)25
Simmons v. United States,
390 U.S. 377 (1968)
State v. Alexander,
2013 WI 70, 349 Wis. 2d 327, 833 N.W.2d
126
State v. Anderson,
2006 WI 77, 291 Wis. 2d 673, 717 N.W.2d
74
State v. Avery,
2013 WI 13, 345 Wis. 2d 407, 826 N.W.2d
60
State v. Dubose,
2005 WI 126, 285 Wis. 2d 143, 162, 699 N.W.2d
582
State v. Edmunds,
2008 WI App 33, 308 Wis. 2d 374, 746 N.W.2d
59021
State v. Gove,
148 Wis. 2d 936, 437 N.W.2d 218 (1989) 23, 24

State v. Harp,
161 Wis. 2d 773, 469 N.W.2d 210 (Ct. App.
1991)23, 24
State v. Harris,
307 Wis. 2d 555, 745 N.W.2d 3930
State v. Henley,
2010 WI 97, 328 Wis. 2d 544, 787 N.W.2d
35023
State v. Hicks,
202 Wis. 2d 150, 549 N.W.2d 435 (1996) 18
State v. Hines,
173 Wis. 2d 850, 496 N.W.2d 720 (Ct. App.
1993)26
State v. Hubbard,
2008 WI 92, 313 Wis. 2d 1, 752 N.W.2d 839 26
State v. Jenkins,
2014 WI 59, Wis. 2d, N.W.2d (No.
2012AP46-CR, Wis. July 11, 2014)30, 31
State v. Jensen,
147 Wis. 2d 240, 432 N.W.2d 913 (1988)26
State v. Johnson,
153 Wis. 2d 121, 449 N.W.2d 845 (1990)29
State v. Lombard,
2004 WI App 52, 271 Wis. 2d 529, 678 N.W.2d
338

V.2d 28
29, 31, 32
5)28
28, 31
19
21
32
27
31
27
5
5
5
25

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

1. Is a new trial necessary, in the interest of justice, because the State violated a pre-trial order dealing with the crucial issue of identification/eyewitness testimony by the victim, because defense counsel worsened the violation, and because the court, in response to a question from the jury, provided comment on the evidence that buttressed the victim's identification, where the court never informed the jury of the reasons to doubt that identification?

The circuit court denied the postconviction motion making this claim.

2. Alternatively, is Mr. Berrios entitled to an evidentiary hearing to determine whether he received ineffective assistance of counsel?

The circuit court also denied this postconviction claim.

# STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

A published decision could guide the bench and bar when considering whether and how to reinstruct a jury when it asks a question during deliberations. The risk that any error will be prejudicial is arguably heightened because such reinstructions "enjoy a special place of prominence in the minds of jurors..." *Blaine v. United States*, 18 A. 3d 766, 776 (D.C. App. 2011). Mr. Berrios believes oral argument could assist the court in addressing the issues.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The complaint charged that, on September 11, 2011, Mr. Berrios committed three offenses: First Degree Reckless Injury to Abimael Trevino, contrary to Wis. Stat. §940.23(10(a) (2011-12); Second Degree Reckless Endangerment of Safety of Helen Sada, contrary to Wis. Stat. §941.30(1); and possession of a firearm as a felon, contrary to Wis. Stat. §949.29(2)(a). (2).

The case was tried to a jury, the Honorable Charles F. Kahn, presiding. (47-53). At the close of evidence, Judge Kahn directed an acquittal on the charge of recklessly endangering safety. (52:9-10). The jury found Mr. Berrios guilty of the other two counts. (53:6-7). The court imposed concurrent sentences totaling five years' initial confinement and four years on extended supervision. (54:29-31).

Mr. Berrios filed a postconviction motion, seeking a new trial in the interest of justice or based on ineffective assistance of counsel. (34). He requested an evidentiary hearing under *State v. Machner*, 92 Wis.2d 797, 804, 285 N.W.2d 905 (Ct. App. 1979). (34:12).

After ordering briefs, the Honorable J. D.Watts denied the motion without a hearing. (40, App. 101-105). Mr. Berrios appeals. (41).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> All statutory citations refer to the 2011-12 edition.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

Mr. Berrios had recently turned 18 years old on September 11, 2011. (2:1). As the sentencing court later remarked, he had "only one criminal conviction in the past, and frankly it was for a nonviolent offense of having so much marijuana ... that it was likely to be distributed to others." (54:20-21).

As discussed presently, three younger teenagers testified at trial that they crossed paths in an alley with Mr. Berrios, another male, and a female. The teenagers testified that after Mr. Berrios' group provoked a physical altercation, they immediately reported it to family members gathered at a nearby house. A large group of family members went down the block to confront Mr. Berrios. The three teenagers and other family members gave testimony related to the State's theory, that Mr. Berrios fired a shotgun round that struck Abimael Trevino and endangered the safety of Helen Sada.<sup>2</sup> Mr. Trevino was hit in the face with what a detective described as "bird shot, several pellets." The pellets injured his left hand, arm and the left side of his neck and face. (51:18).

#### **Pretrial Motions to Bar In-Court Identifications**

Just before trial, the court heard motions to prohibit prosecution witnesses from making in-court identifications of Mr. Berrios. The court denied the request to bar identification testimony from the three teenagers, Dora T., Andrew H., and Elisandra H., who had the initial contact

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> As noted above, the State ultimately failed to adduce Ms. Sada's testimony. At the close of evidence, the court dismissed the charge related to her. (52:9-10).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The last names of these juveniles are redacted in this brief.

with Mr. Berrios. (48:13-14, 23). The court also rejected the challenge to identification testimony from Martin Garcia. (48:46-48).

As to Abimael Trevino and Helen Sada, the court asked the prosecutor whether it was true that, prior to trial, they had "never identified Mr. Berrios... As a matter of fact, they looked at his picture [in a photo array] and did not pick him out..." The prosecutor confirmed this was the case. (48:24-25, App. 111-112).

#### The court remarked:

THE COURT: I mean, my goodness. They have been sitting here all day. I think they might have been here at some point when we brought Mr. Berrios into the courtroom in chains, and I'm not totally sure about that or brought him out in chains.

This morning he was wearing jail clothing. He was sitting there and they were sitting here. ... [48:25, App. 112].

The court ruled that the defense had made a sufficient initial showing that in-court identifications by Mr. Trevino and Ms. Sada would be tainted by unduly suggestive pretrial procedures. (48:27-28, App. 114-115). The court invited the State to present evidence to rebut the initial determination, but the prosecutor stated, "...I don't think we will be asking Ms. Sada or or Ms. [sic] Trevino to identify the defendant." (48:28, App. 115). The court emphasized that identification evidence from these witnesses was barred, and told the prosecutor to "see to it" the witnesses were aware of the restriction. (48:28-29, App. 115-116).

#### **Testimony of Abimael Trevino**

On the day of the incident, Mr. Trevino and a large group of his family members were gathered at his aunt's house because his aunt died the previous day. (50:10). His "little cousin" Dora told him that she and another relative, Andrew, "got into it with some dude down the street." (*Id.*).

Mr. Trevino and about 30 other family members went to confront the people responsible. (50:27). He admits being "very upset" but denied his group went "there to cause any trouble." (50:23, 25). Mr. Trevino testified that he had "[f]ive felonies" and was unemployed. (50:9).

Mr. Trevino got in his Ford Explorer and drove to the house to have the confrontation. (50:10-11).<sup>4</sup> From inside his vehicle—he testified he never got out of it—he saw "[a] guy with a shotgun." (50:12).

When Mr. Trevino was examined by the prosecutor, he said he could remember back to September 11, 2011 (from date of his testimony, July 10, 2012). (50:9-10). At no point in direct examination did he testify to memory problems. (50:9-16).

The following occurred during direct examination:

Q. [by the prosecutor]. Now, do you recall what that individual [the guy with the shotgun] looks like?

A. Yes.

Q. Is that individual present in the courtroom today?

[Defense counsel]: Your Honor, may I be heard.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The aunt's house was at Orchard and South 22<sup>nd</sup> Streets. (51:15). The shooting occurred at 1655 South 22<sup>nd</sup> Street. (2:1).

THE COURT: Sure. Just a minute. Hold on a minute. Ladies and gentlemen, we'll be right back. Thanks.

(Discussion held off the record in private.) [50:12].

As the State's post-conviction brief acknowledged, the prosecutor in this exchange "violated the court's pretrial ruling..." (36:2).

On cross-examination, Mr. Trevino remembered talking to police. However, he claimed he could not remember what he told the detective who saw him at the hospital soon after he was shot. (50:16-17). He did not remember telling the detective that he was shot by one of three Hispanic males who came, shooting, out of an alley adjacent to the house. (50:17). He believed his memory was "[a] little bit" better as he testified than it had been when he spoke to the detective on the day he was shot. (50:19). Defense counsel asked:

Q. Is that how you recall it happening by three Hispanic males coming out of the alley adjacent to the house?

A. No.

Q. That's not—Did you see any Hispanic males come out of the alley?

A. Yes.

Q. Were they shooting?

A. Yep.

Q. You stated to the police—First of all, your testimony today is you never get out of your truck, is that right?

A. Yes.

Q. But you told the police that after you saw the three Hispanic males come out of the alley that you ran back and get [sic] into his truck when he was shot by one of the males. Do you recall saying that?

A. No.

- Q. You deny that you went back into the truck as you told the officers that day?
- A. I don't remember too much what happened that day.
- Q. Are you testifying based on your recollection or what you think happened today?
- A. I am telling the truth what happened.
- Q. When you told the police that you had to get in your truck, that means you were out of your truck, correct?
- A. I don't remember when I was out of my truck. It just happened so fast. [50:17-18].

When defense counsel asked Mr. Trevino to identify an exhibit, he responded with the answers, "That's Joshua," "That's Joshua house, in front of his house," and, after defense counsel asked, "Who is Joshua?" Mr. Trevino responded, "The man sitting right there in front of me." (50:20).

Mr. Trevino further testified, "All I remember was this guy coming up to me." Defense counsel asked, "A guy coming up to you?" Mr. Trevino responded, "Joshua Berrios." (50:21).

Mr. Trevino also testified he saw "...Mr. Joshua Berrios ... coming down the stairs [of the house next to the alley] aiming a shotgun at me and fired, and that's when I turned to my car and took off." (50:22).

Mr. Trevino testified that he did not know Mr. Berrios, but that he knew of him, and knew his nickname. Defense counsel asked a question suggesting that Mr. Trevino knew "that he [Mr. Berrios] had supposedly gotten into some physical altercation" with his three young family members. Mr. Trevino agreed he knew this. (*Id.*).

While defense counsel impeached Mr. Trevino with the suggestion he had a motive to get Mr. Berrios for the initial fight with the three youngsters, he did not:

- Impeach him with evidence that Mr. Trevino had failed to choose Mr. Berrios in a photo array, and was making his in-court identification after learning that Mr. Berrios had been charged. (48:24-25, App. 111-112).
- Buttress the impeachment with Mr. Trevino's statement to police that he was shot by one of three Hispanic males emerging from the alley, whom he could only identify as being in their twenties and having dark hair. (51:16).

Outside the jury's presence, the court noted that Mr. Trevino's in-court identifications of Mr. Berrios were "specifically and directly contrary" to its ruling to prohibit them, and suggested the prosecutor had not followed the court's instructions that it ensure Mr. Trevino was aware of the court's order. (50:65).

The court assumed that, by not seeking a mistrial, defense counsel "made a strategic decision to waive that issue." The court noted that defense counsel was "wise and experienced." (50:66). The

court also stated that, while counsel could consult Mr. Berrios, any mistrial motion should be made as soon as possible. (50:66-67). Defense counsel subsequently stated that neither he nor Mr. Berrios wanted to seek a mistrial. (50:109).

## **Testimony of Detective Herb Glidewell**

The State's direct examination was limited to eliciting Detective Glidewell's testimony that he was dispatched to the hospital the day of the shooting. (51:11). Defense counsel then pursued "a line of questioning that I would call him [for] as part of the defense. ..." (51:12).

Detective Glidewell spoke to Mr. Trevino in the trauma room at the hospital. Mr. Trevino had been shot and was "in some intense pain." (51:13). Nonetheless, the detective elicited the following information from Mr. Trevino:

- One of his younger family members had been in a fight and had come home crying. (51:13).
- Mr. Trevino drove in a red Ford Explorer to "confront these people." (*Id.*).
- While Mr. Trevino "was there arguing with some Hispanic males on a porch, he told me some other—I believe three Hispanic males came out of an alley, I believe, and he was shot." (51:14).

Defense counsel gave Detective Glidewell a copy of his police report, Exhibit 13, to refresh his recollection. (51:14). It showed that Mr. Trevino had provided additional details:

- The confrontation was at a house on 22<sup>nd</sup> Street, near Mitchell Street. (51:15).
- Mr. Trevino stopped at the alley near the house. (51:15).
- He saw two Hispanic males on the porch and argued with them over his younger cousin's complaints. (51:15-16).
- One of these males warned Mr. Trevino, in the report's words, that "you don't want none." (51:15-16).
- By this time, about 30 family members were around the house. (51:16).
- "Trevino stated three Hispanic males who he could only describe as being in their 20's with dark hair came out of the alley adjacent to the house. Trevino stated he then ran back and got into his truck when he was shot by one of the males." (51:16).

Detective Glidewell acknowledged that his report attributed no statement to Mr. Trevino that he had been shot by a male on the porch holding a shotgun. While the detective did not recall Mr. Trevino telling him "exactly that," he pointed out, "You have to remember that I don't believe he could see me because of the trauma he was suffering, and I spoke to him just before he went into surgery..." (51:16).

Mr. Trevino was in "extreme pain" when Detective Glidewell spoke to him. He asked if he was going to die, and Detective Glidewell told him no. Although he gave that answer to provide comfort, the detective did not, in fact, think Mr. Trevino was going to die. (51:18).

#### **Other Witnesses**

The State presented four eyewitnesses in addition to Mr. Trevino, and the defense presented one—Mr. Berrios' sister. Their testimony is briefly summarized to aid this court's weighing of the impact of the circumstances connected with Mr. Trevino's testimony.

#### Dora T. testified that:

- She and two cousins were walking through an alley on September 11, 2011, returning to the home of her grandmother. (49:52-53).
- They encountered "three people in the alley, and a little more, but in the back." (49:53).
- One guy started "talking stuff" and a fight developed. A bald guy started fighting with one of her cousins, she saw another cousin getting beaten by a girl, and then a guy "came out of nowhere" and started hitting her. (49:54).
- She identified Mr. Berrios as a guy who fought with her cousin. (49:55).
- She saw Mr. Berrios go to the porch of a house next to a school. (49:57-58).
- She and the others told their family about the fight. Family members immediately went to

confront the people responsible. Dora saw the guy identified as Mr. Berrios, and another guy, on the porch. Her uncle, Martin Garcia, was arguing with them. (49:56). Mr. Garcia was challenging Mr. Berrios to come down and "fight like a man." (49:66-67).

• She heard 5 or 6 gunshots but did not see who fired them. (49:56). The shots came from the porch and sounded like they were from a "little gun." (49:56-57).

#### Andrew H. testified that:

- He was with his little sister Eli and their older cousin, Dora. (49:77).
- They encountered "[a] guy, his friend, and a lady. I don't know if she was a lady or younger. ..." (49:77).
- He identified Mr. Berrios as one of those people. (49:77-78).
- Eventually, he and Mr. Berrios fought, but the guy and girl joined in, so Andrew had to curl up his body for protection as they kicked him. (49:79-81). He told Eli and Dora to run home. By the time he was walking home, his whole family was coming toward him, on their way to confront Mr. Berrios and the others. (49:81-82).
- Mr. Berrios was standing on the porch with a shotgun. It had a shoulder strap. Mr. Berrios told the girl and the other guy to leave the porch and go inside. (49:82-83).

- Andrew claimed he heard Mr. Berrios cock the gun. (49:84).
- Right when his cousin pulled up, Andrew heard the gun go off. People started running, and it went off again. (49:85).
- Andrew saw his cousin get shot. (49:86). However, he did not see Mr. Berrios shoot. (49:87).
- The first shots Andrew heard came from the alley, just as he told the police before trial. (49:87). When he heard the first shots from the alley, Andrew was looking at Mr. Berrios, so he knew Mr. Berrios had not fired them. (49:92). Andrew heard two more shots as he was running. He did not know where the shots came from. (49:89). It was possible that the shots from the alley were fired by a shotgun. (49:97).

#### Elisandra H. testified that:

- She, Dora and Andrew encountered two guys and a girl in an alley. She identified Mr. Berrios as one of the guys. (49:106-107).
- The two groups fought and then her group went to get other family members. (49:108).
- They went to a house where one of the guys was sitting on the porch with a gun. (49:108). That guy was Mr. Berrios. (49:111). Her uncle, Martin Garcia, argued with him and the other guy about why they jumped kids. (49:110-111).

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