# RECEIVED

10-31-2014

# STATE OF WISCONSIN

**CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS** COURT OF APPEAL OF WISCONSIN

#### DISTRICT I

Case No. 2014AP971-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JOSHUA BERRIOS,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION, THE HONORABLE CHARLES F. KAHN, JR., PRESIDING, AND AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION MOTION FOR RELIEF, THE HONORABLE J. D. WATTS, PRESIDING, BOTH ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR MILWAUKEE COUNTY

## **BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT**

J.B. VAN HOLLEN **Attorney General** 

SARAH K. LARSON **Assistant Attorney General** State Bar #1030446

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

To the extent that Berrios insinuates that the adults coached the juveniles to identify Berrios as the shooter (Berrios' brief at 22), the record does not bear out this assertion. Even if Andrew somehow "learned" from Garcia earlier that the gun jammed (*id.*), Andrew still clearly testified that he saw Berrios with the gun, heard Berrios cock the gun, and then saw Trevino getting shot with the spray of shotgun pellets (49:84-86). Similarly, Elisandra did not admit that "she and the others discussed what they would say on the witness stand" (Berrios' brief at 22). Rather, her precise testimony was that she talked with Garcia and Trevino about what happened and about the case (49:131-132).

In short, Trevino's testimony did not prejudice Berrios in any way, nor did Trevino's testimony cloud the identification issue, because Trevino's testimony (*i.e.*, that Berrios was coming down off of Berrios' porch when Berrios aimed the shotgun and shot him (50:21-22)) was cumulative to that of two other witnesses who clearly identified Berrios as the porch shooter (*i.e.*, Garcia and Elisandra), and cumulative to another witness who clearly

placed the gun in Berrios' hands while Berrios was standing on the porch (*i.e.*, Andrew). *State v. Speese*, 199 Wis. 2d 597, 605-06, 545 N.W.2d 510 (1996) (evidence that was duplicative to what other witnesses compellingly testified rendered any errors harmless); *Jones v. Dane County*, 195 Wis. 2d 892, 937-38, 537 N.W.2d 74 (Ct. App. 1995) (improperly admitted evidence considered harmless if it is cumulative).

Moreover, nothing about Trevino's identification was highlighted to the jury. The State did not attempt to revisit the issue of Trevino's identification at any point after the prosecutor's initial question (50:12). During closing argument, the State did not mention Trevino's identification, instead relying on the identification testimony of the other witnesses (52:22-23, 25-29). When discussing Trevino's testimony generally, the State only referred to Trevino's testimony about where his truck was located when he was shot, and the photos depicting Trevino's injuries (50:28-29). But the State never again mentioned anything about Trevino identifying Berrios as the shooter.<sup>13</sup>

For these reasons, Berrios was not prejudiced by his counsel's failures related to Trevino's identification. Simply put, there is no reasonable possibility that the jury could have had reasonable doubt that Berrios was the shooter. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694 (to prove prejudice, defendant must show reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, result of proceeding would have been different).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup>To the extent that defense counsel discussed Trevino's identification testimony during his closing argument, it was only to impeach the testimony and suggest reasons why the jury should not believe it (52:33-34, 36-38).

2. Berrios was not preiudiced by counsel's failure to object to the court's response to the jury's question about Trevino's hospital statement, because the court's response simply repeated substance of Detective Glidewell's unobjectionable testimony.

Berrios next argues that counsel was ineffective for 1) stipulating to and/or failing to object to the court's response to the jury's questions about Trevino's hospital statement to Detective Glidewell; and 2) stipulating to and/or failing to object to the court sending a redacted version of Trevino's statement back into the jury room as an exhibit (Berrios' brief at 20-22, 24-28). 14

Specifically, Berrios argues that the court's actions were "dramatic in that the court identified and favored" Trevino's trial testimony over the version Trevino gave to Detective Glidewell in the hospital, thereby impermissibly promoting the State's theory of prosecution over Berrios' theory of defense and/or affixing an improper "judicial imprimatur" or "directive" on the testimony (*id.* at 20-22, 26-27, 29).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup>Berrios mischaracterizes the court's actions as a "reinstruction" (Berrios' brief at 25-28). The court sent the exhibit back to the jury room and responded to the jury's question about the exhibit (55 [A-Ap. 106-108]); but neither of those actions constitutes a "reinstruction." A reinstruction is when the court re-instructs the jury after the jury asks for clarification about the legal principles or jury instructions in the case. *State v. Hubbard*, 2008 WI 92, ¶¶ 23-29, 55-57, 313 Wis. 2d 1, 752 N.W.2d 839 (court has discretion to determine necessity for, extent of, and form of reinstruction when responding to jury's request for clarification about previously-given jury instruction).

As a preliminary matter, Berrios fails to cite any authority for the proposition that a court's response to a jury question (or sending back an exhibit in response to a jury question) somehow adds an improper judicial "imprimatur" to disputed issues in a case. For this reason alone, this court should reject Berrios' argument outright. *Pettit*, 171 Wis. 2d at 646-47 (appellate court need not address inadequately briefed arguments).

If Berrios' "imprimatur" argument were true, the mere admission of any instruction or evidence by a court might be assailed by a similar attack. *Cf. Collier v. State*, 30 Wis. 2d 101, 106-107, 140 N.W.2d 252 (1966) (rejecting defendant's argument that trial court's admission of evidence constituted improper imprimatur of trial judge).

Here, as in *Collier*, the jurors received instructions that they were the sole arbiters of witness credibility (52:14-15), effectively negating any improper inference that the court was somehow "vouching" for Trevino's trial testimony as being more credible than his hospital statement. *Collier*, 30 Wis. 2d at 107. This court should assume that the jury followed the instructions on evaluating witness credibility. *State v. Truax*, 151 Wis. 2d 354, 362, 444 N.W.2d 432 (Ct. App. 1989) (court presumes jury follows instructions given to it).

Moreover, any objection that defense counsel would have made to the court's actions would not have been sustained. The circuit court had discretion in determining not only what type of response to give to the jury's question, but also in determining what kind of exhibits could be sent back to the jury room. *Hubbard*, 313 Wis. 2d 1, ¶¶ 23-29 (court has broad discretion in responding to jury's request for clarification on jury instruction); *State v. Anderson*, 2006 WI 77, ¶¶ 27-28, 291 Wis. 2d 673, 717 N.W.2d 74 (whether to send exhibit to jury room during deliberation is discretionary decision).

This court will not reverse the circuit court's decisions absent an erroneous exercise of discretion. *Hubbard*, 313 Wis. 2d 1, ¶¶ 23, 28; *Anderson*, 291 Wis. 2d 673, ¶¶ 28-29. Factors that a circuit court should consider in determining whether an exhibit should be sent into the jury room include: 1) whether the exhibit will aid the jury in proper consideration of the case; 2) whether a party will be unduly prejudiced by submission of the exhibit; and 3) whether the exhibit could be subjected to improper use by the jury. *Anderson*, 291 Wis. 2d 673, ¶ 27.

Here, the circuit court properly exercised its discretion, not only in sending back the redacted exhibit, but also in its response to the jury's question. First and foremost, Berrios himself gave consent to have the redacted exhibit sent back, and Berrios' counsel also agreed to the court's additional instruction after having first consulted Berrios about it (52:66-67).

During its deliberations, the jury posed the question, "Can we have the police report from [Trevino], [Trevino's] statement from the hospital admitted into evidence as No. 13?" (52:66). After the court discussed it with the prosecutor and defense counsel, and after defense counsel obtained Berrios' consent about it, everyone agreed that the court would send to the jury a copy of the supplemental police report as Exhibit 13a, with the information about the dismissed charge redacted (52:66; 55:2-3 [A-Ap. 107-108]).

In addition, after obtaining Berrios' agreement, Berrios' counsel also agreed to the court's "cautionary reminder" about the exhibit, which consisted a statement summarizing Detective Glidewell's testimony—namely, that "Mr. Trevino was in extreme pain in the hospital . . . [when the statement was taken] and was asking the detective if he was going to die" (52:66-67; 55:1 [A-Ap. 106]).

This court should not overturn an alleged but waived instructional error when, as part of the defendant's trial strategy, the defendant himself requests or agrees to the instruction. *State v. Damon*, 140 Wis. 2d 297, 301-02, 305, 409 N.W.2d 444 (Ct. App. 1987) (no error when defendant not only failed to object to instruction given, but in fact requested instruction). Berrios cannot create his own alleged error by deliberate choice of trial strategy, and then expect to receive benefit from that error on appeal. *Id.* at 305.

Further, under the *Anderson* factors, the circuit court properly exercised its discretion, because it undertook a rational process to reach a reasonable conclusion. *Anderson*, 291 Wis. 2d 673, ¶ 28. Under the first *Anderson* factor, the court properly found that the exhibit would aid the jury in proper consideration of the case, because both parties had already agreed that the redacted exhibit should be back to the jury room. *Id.* ¶ 27. Similarly, under the second *Anderson* factor, the court properly found that Berrios would not be unduly prejudiced by submission of the exhibit, because again, both parties agreed to send the redacted exhibit back after the jury requested it. *Id.* 

This was not a case where the jury had been prejudiced by having undue weight placed upon certain evidence by the court's *sua sponte* actions; rather, the jury itself considered the evidence important enough to request the exhibit during its deliberations. *Id.* ¶ 106. Therefore, the court properly exercised its discretion in deciding that it was appropriate for the jury to have the information it requested, because both parties agreed that it was appropriate for the jury to have the information it requested. *In re Commitment of Lombard*, 2004 WI App 52, ¶ 20, 271 Wis. 2d 529, 678 N.W.2d 338 (court not obligated to provide jury with information solely because jury believes information is important to decision; but court's role is to exercise discretion and decide whether it is appropriate for jury to have information it requests).

Berrios' real dispute is not with the redacted exhibit itself but with the court's comments or instructions to the jury about the exhibit. Berrios' argument, at its core, falls under *Anderson's* third factor—namely, that the exhibit could be subjected to improper use by the jury, because the court's instruction about the exhibit would allegedly overemphasize Trevino's trial testimony (which Berrios says supported the State's position) or undercut Trevino's out-of-court statement to Detective Glidewell (which Berrios says tended to support the defense's position). *Anderson*, 291 Wis. 2d 673, ¶ 27.

In other words, Berrios argues that the court's remark—"Please consider, in addition to this text [in the report]," that Trevino was in pain when Detective Glidewell interviewed him (55 [A-Ap. 106])—had the effect of telling the jury to believe one version over the other, as in *Anderson*. *Anderson*, 291 Wis. 2d 673, ¶¶ 103-105 (in sending videotape of witness's out-of-court statement back to jury, risk of overemphasis of that statement relative to testimony given from witness stand).

But as the postconviction court found in denying Berrios' motion (40:4-5 [A-Ap. 104-105]), the trial court's instruction to the jury did nothing but reiterate Detective Glidewell's unobjectionable trial testimony that Trevino was in pain when he gave his hospital statement (52:13-14, 18). By telling the jury to "[p]lease consider" that testimony (55:1 [A-Ap. 106]), the court was <u>not</u> placing an "instructional rebuttal or caveat to the [police] report," as Berrios contends (Berrios' brief at 27). Nor was the court improperly commenting on the evidence by telling the jury that the police report "was not as helpful to Mr. Berrios as they might think," or telling them to discount the report, as Berrios contends (*id.* at 26-27).

Rather, the court's instruction was, in essence, summarizing Detective Glidewell's unobjectionable testimony back to the jury—an action that was clearly proper. *See Anderson*, 291 Wis. 2d 673, ¶ 104 (rather than sending videotape of witness's out-of-court statement

back to jury room, court should have re-read witness's incourt testimony in order to answer jury's question about the testimony).

The jury evidently needed Detective Glidewell's police report in order to resolve the case, such that the court properly provided the redacted exhibit when the jury asked for it. *See id.* ¶¶ 104, 107. The court's instructions about that exhibit were nothing more than comments about the circumstances under which the report was given—and those comments, in turn, were merely a summary or repetition of Detective Glidewell's (and others') testimony (40:5 [A-Ap. 105]).

Therefore, the court's actions here were analogous to actions upheld in the seminal *Jensen* case. *State v. Jensen*, 147 Wis. 2d 240, 250, 432 N.W.2d 913 (1988). Here, the witness (Detective Glidewell) testified, in part, to explain the context in which the victim (Trevino) told the witness (Detective Glidewell) about the crime, similar to how the witness in *Jensen* testified about the context in which child sexual assault victims often reveal the crimes against them. *Id.* 

In *Jensen*, such context testimony was not tantamount to telling the jury that the victim-witness was truthful (*i.e.*, the ultimate opinion about whether the crime occurred), but was instead admissible to explain why victims may not come forward in giving their statements sooner. *Id.* at 250, 255-56. Likewise here, the court's instruction about Detective Glidewell's testimony was not tantamount to telling the jury to believe an ultimate opinion (*i.e.*, that Trevino's hospital statement was not worthy of belief because he was in pain); but rather, was merely reiterating to the jury the previously-given testimony about the circumstances surrounding Trevino's hospital statement. Such an instruction was permissible, as it merely helped the jury to understand the evidence in the case. *Id.* at 256-57.

Moreover, similar to the defendant's confession in *Jensen* that was properly sent back to the jury room as an exhibit, the court's response here did nothing more than reiterate the contents of Trevino's police statement, as well as the circumstances under which the statement was given, neither of which was in dispute in the case. *See id.* at 261-62. As in *Jensen*, neither the written exhibit nor the court's instruction here overemphasized Trevino's trial testimony over the contents of his statement to Detective Glidewell. *Id.* 

In summary, the court's actions here did not constitute an erroneous exercise of discretion. *Hubbard*, 313 Wis. 2d 1, ¶¶ 23, 28; *Anderson*, 291 Wis. 2d 673, ¶¶ 28-29. And as discussed above, any instructional error would have been harmless and did not prejudice Berrios, because two other witnesses besides Trevino identified Berrios as the shooter, and another witness also placed the gun in Berrios' hands. *Anderson*, 291 Wis. 2d 673, ¶ 27 (court's exercise of discretion also subject to harmless error analysis). This court should affirm the circuit court's proper exercise of discretion. *Id.* ¶¶ 28-29. <sup>15</sup>

C. Berrios was not prejudiced by counsel's failure to introduce evidence that he claims should have been admitted.

Berrios' second category of ineffective-assistance claims relate to counsel's failures vis-à-vis evidence that was never introduced—namely, the jury did <u>not</u> hear "crucial" evidence in the form of: 1) countervailing evidence as to why Trevino's identification was unreliable (Berrios' at 19, 25, 27, 30); and 2) a curative instruction as

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup>Contrary to Berrios' contention (Berrios' brief at 19-20), the *Arroyo* case is completely distinguishable and inapposite here, because that involved a court's reinstruction which had the effect of unconstitutionally shifting the burden of proof on the defendant to prove the intent element in the crime—an error which could not be harmless. *Arroyo v. Jones*, 685 F.2d 35, 38-41 (2nd Cir. 1982).

to the reliability of Trevino's identification testimony (*id.* at 19-20, 30). Again, however, Berrios was not prejudiced by his counsel's omissions.

1. Berrios was not prejudiced by counsel's failure to introduce countervailing evidence on cross-examination to further undermine Trevino's identification.

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